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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KEVEN DANOW, AS THE TRUSTEE OF

THE MORRIS HITZIG REVOCABLE

LIVING TRUST,
on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated,

Civil Action No.

Plaintiff, CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT

v.

COMCAST CORP. and COMCAST CABLE JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COMMUNICATIONS, LLC,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Keven Danow, as the trustee of the Morris Hitzig Revocable Living Trust, on

behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, through his undersigned attorneys, files this

Class Action Complaint against Defendants and alleges on actual knowledge as to his own acts

and on information and belief after due investigation as to all other allegations:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

Plaintiff brings this class action against Defendants Comcast Corp. and Comcast

Cable Communications, LLC (collectively, "Comcast") on behalf ofall former Comcast customers

whose bank accounts have been illegally accessed and funds withdrawn subsequent to the

termination of the service contract between the parties, and where the former customer owed

Comcast no unpaid legitimate charges. The Complaint asserts common law and certain statutory

claims, including violations of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 USC 1693 et seq., and the

New York General Business Law, 349.
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2. Defendants' method of operation and business model includes engaging in unfair

conduct aimed at its customers. Comcast's actions have included, inter alia, overbilling,

misrepresenting the basis of charges it has imposed on customers, and assessing phantom charges

which it illegally imposes on its customers.

3. Comcast service has prompted thousands of complaints to the Company, many of

which go unresolved. Complaints include the failure to honor advertised deals; switching

customers to higher cost services without their consent; cancelling customers without their

knowledge and then failing to reinstate them; charging for bogus or non-existent service calls and

then refusing to delete the charges. Customers often find it impossible to get any satisfaction.

Customer service at Comcast's walk-in facilities is generally plagued by long-lines. Many

consumer complaint websites are filled with complaints over Comcast's wrongful business

practices. (See, https://comcast.pissedconsurner.corni).

4. So also, a recent class action has been filed against Comcast in the United States

District Court for the Northern District ofCalifornia, entitled Adkins v. Comcast Corporation, Case

No. 3:16-cv-05969-EDL, alleging that Comcast engages in a pattern of misrepresenting fees it

charges as taxes or as government mandated, when in fact they were not.

5. In In the Matter of Comcast Corporation, before the Federal Communications

Commission, File No. Eb-IHD-15-00018079 (October 11, 2016) the FCC found and Comcast

agreed to a Consent Decree prohibiting the Company from further violating the Commission's

long-standing rule on negative options. Comcast had been loading up its customers with expensive

unordered cable programming and hardware, refusing to cancel the unordered items and refusing

to refund payments made for the unordered items. This conduct was coupled with a customer

support culture which could only be described as uncaring and hostile.

2
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6. On August 1, 2016, the Washington Attorney General filed suit against Comcast.

The press release announcing the suit stated:

AG ANNOUNCES LAWSUIT AGAINST COMCAST FOR MORE THAN S100

MILLION

First-of-its-kind suit alleges nearly 2 million Consumer Protection Act

violations: seeksrelimds for more than 400.000 Washingtonians

SEATTLE Attorney General Bob Fergusonfiled a lawsuit today against
cable television and Internet giant Comcast Corporation in King County
Superior Court, alleging the company's own documents reveal a pattern of
illegally deceiving their customers to pad their bottom line by tens ofmillions of
dollars.

The lawsuit accuses the company of more than 1.8 million violations of
Washington state's Consumer Protection Act (CPA), including misrepresenting
the scope of its Service Protection Plan, charging customers improper service

callfees and improper credit screening practices.

The lawsuit also accuses Comcast of violating the CPA to all of its nearly 1.2

million Washington subscribers due to its deceptive "Comcast Guarantee.

The lawsuit is the first of its kind in the nation though the Service Protection

Plan is a nationwide program and many of the improper practices are used in

all ofCorneas! 's markets. The Attorney General's Office brought these issues to

Cornetist over a year ago, but the company didn't begin to make changes until

recently on the verge ofthis litigation.

"This case is a classic example ofa big corporation deceiving its customers.fbr
.financial gain, Ferguson said. "I won't allow Cornetist to continue to put
profits above customers and the law"

7. The Washington AG lawsuit describes classic Comcast deceptive business

dealings. In an effort to get its customers to sign up for its Service Protection Plan (the -SPP") the

Company claimed that one would not pay for any service call related to any wiring issues inside

one's home, labelling the coverage -comprehensive". Actually, the coverage was very limited and

did not apply to wiring inside the walls of a home. Nor did it cover any repairs to customer owned

3
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equipment. The Company claimed it also CON ered a tech visit to address any Comcast equipment

outside the home, although this was already covered under the basic agreement. Approximately

500,000 Washington customers bought the plan, paying Comcast $73 million. In addition,

Comcast charged many customers fees for the repair of Comcast equipment, when it had no right

to do so. Finally, the Company demanded deposits from new customers to avoid a credit check

but wrongfully ran credit checks anyway. The AG seeks restitution from Comcast of $100 million.

8. Having engaged in deceptive and unfair trade practices as a core component of its

business, Comcast has now targeted former customers, who no longer have any business

relationship with Comcast. Comcast has illegally accessed former customers' bank accounts

months or years after the end of any business relationship between the parties and absconded with

funds on deposit.

9. In the Plaintiff's case, his step-father was a Comcast customer who died in 2014.

The Comcast account was cancelled shortly thereafter. However, in 2016 Comcast illegally began

to make recurring automatic fund withdrawals from the subject trust bank account (that had been

used to pay the Comcast bill up until 2014), despite the fact that the business relationship between

the parties had ended years before and the decedent owed nothing to Comcast.

10. When Plaintiff called Comcast to complain of the charges made in 2016 to the

aforementioned bank account, Comcast refused to address Plaintiff's grievance, on the ground that

there was no active account for years, and therefore no business relationship.

11. Plaintiff seeks damages for himself and the Class as defined below and an

injunction to prevent Comcast from absconding with further funds from former customers.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4
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12. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action as to the Electronic

Fund Transfer Act (-EFTA") claims pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 1693m(g) and 28 U.S.C. 1331.

Jurisdiction also exists under 28 U.S.C. 1332(d), the Class Action Fairness Act. Plaintiff's

citizenship (New York) is different from that of Comcast Corp. which is incorporated in

Pennsylvania and has its corporate headquarters there as well, and different from that of Comcast

Communications, LLC, which is wholly-owned by Comcast Corp., is headquartered in

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and is a citizen of Pennsylvania. The amount in controversy exceeds

the sum of $5,000,000, as Comcast has over 22 million cable TV subscribers, of whom millions

have discontinued service during the relevant period(s), and (as my be inferred from the

widespread nature of defendants' previous billing schemes) have been subjected to unauthorized

post-contract billings in amounts totaling many millions of dollars.

13. There is complete diversity between Plaintiff and Defendants and in addition,

Plaintiff's request for injunctive relief has a value or cost in excess of $75,000, exclusive of fees

or costs.

14. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(b)(1) and (b)(2)

because Defendants reside in this district, and this is the District in which a substantial part of the

events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred, or a substantial part of property that is the

subject of the action is situated. The Defendants regularly transacted and continue to transact

business in this district.

15. This Court has in personam jurisdiction over the Defendants because, inter alia,

Defendants have continuously transacted business in this district over many years; maintained

continuous and systematic contacts in this district prior to and during the class period; and

purposefully availed itself of the benefits of doing business in this district.

5
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PARTIES

16. Plaintiff Keven Danow is an individual and a resident and citizen ofNew York. He

is the Trustee of the Morris Hitzig Revocable Living Trust. Morris Hitzig, (the "Decedent") died

in 2014. Decedent had a contract with Comcast to deliver television services to Decedent. Upon

Decedent's death, that contact was duly terminated. Plaintiff has not been able to recoup money

subtracted from the account at issue, and has suffered real and concrete harm.

17. Defendants operate as media and technology companies providing cable television,

telephone and internet services. Their executive offices are located at One Comcast Center, 1701

JFK Boulevard, Philadelphia, PA 19103.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

18. This lawsuit concerns Defendants' unlawful and improper deductions of money

from non-customers by charging their bank accounts long after any business dealings between the

parties had terminated. Decedent's contact with Comcast was terminated by Plaintiff shortly after

Decedent's death in 2014. Yet in 2016 Comcast began automatically deducting finds from the

trust account on a recurrent basis illegally.

19. Defendant routinely engages in deceptive and unfair business conduct to extract

money from customers to which it is not entitled. Comcast is now targeting former customers who

have no business relationship with Comcast. Further, Corncast attempts to insulate itself from

addressing the wrongdoing by refusing to assist anyone who is not a current customer, despite the

fact that Comcast is absconding with funds from former customers.

6



Case 2:16-cv-06052-PD Document 1-1 Filed 11/17/16 Page 1 of 10

20. Many complaints and reports about billing former customers show that Plaintiff is

not alone in being victimized in this way, and these create an inference that this unfair practice is

widespread and of long duration. These complaints and reports include:

a. An article in The Comsumerist as early as 2009 entitled, -What, You Expect

Comcast To Stop Billing You Just Because You Canceled Your Account?"

b. In 2015, one customer complained: "After I cancelled, and received a

voicemail back from one representative confirming so this past February, the company continued

to bill usfor monthly service for several more months although we'd already cancelled, already

switched to Dish Internet via satellite. Corncast took a $19.95/month service arrangement with us

and managed to run it up several hundred dollars in wrongful Internet data usage charges, then

continued months after cancellation. When they were done, they placed it in collection and on

my credit, which has damaged my credit rating and caused me difficulty. I want to get this matter

resolved with Comcast once and for all."

c. Another customer related a similar distressing story in late 2015: -Cancelled

service 11/2/2012, as we moved; I have emails to/from Con-least rep regarding our move and

cancellation of services. Comcast rep instructed me where to return equipment, which I did on

11/8/2012 (I have receipt for return). We continued to receive bills, which entailed a slew ofemails

& phone calls back & forth with Comcast..."

d. Yet another customer reported in October 2015: "I have had difficulty

getting Comcast to cancel my service and to stop billing me for service three months after I

requested cancellation and turned in their equipment."

7
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c. A Washington state consumer lamented in 2014 that she could not escape

Comcast billing: "2 accounts were active to the same apartment (room mates). I closed out in

June and equipment was returned but Comcast is still billing for service and equipment even

though service was canceled and equipment returned. Comcast employees are very rude and

unhelpful customer service reps that refuse to do anything or even get a supervisor and then hang

up on you.-

f. An article in Philly.com in 2015 entitled, "Comcast & The Attack of the

Zombie Bills- reported similar practices, with one customer complaining: "I returned all my

Comcast equipment and cancelled all of my service in November. Comcast owes me

money. Instead, I am billed monthly and Comcast now believes that I owe them more

than $600.

21. This is but a small sample of the multitude of complaints that show Plaintiff

is only one of many customers being victimized.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

22. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(2) and

23(b)(3) of the Federal Rule ofCivil Procedure, seeking actual and statutory damages under federal

law, specifically the EFTA; relief under state consumer protection statutes; injunctive relief; and

relief under the common law on behalf of himself and all members of the Class.

23. The "Class" consists of all former Comcast customers who have had their bank

accounts accessed by Comcast and were charged fees, when the former customers had no

outstanding balance owed to Comcast. The class period is the longest permissible by law under

the various statute(s) setting limitations. The New York Sub-Class consists of all New York

8
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residents who had their bank accounts so charged and asserts claims pursuant to the New York

General Business Law, 349.

24. The Class for whose benefit this action is brought are so numerous that joinder of

all members is impracticable. While the exact number and identities of the persons who fit within

each proposed class are presently unknown, given Corncast's over 22 million subscribers, and the

millions who have terminated contracts in recent years, it may well number in the many thousands

of persons; the exact number can be ascertained from Defendants' records.

25. Common Questions Predominate: This action involves common questions of law

and fact to the Class because each Class Member's claim derives from the same allegedly unlawful

action. The common questions of law and fact involved predominate over questions that affect

only Plaintiff or individual Class Members. Thus, proof of a common or single set of facts will

establish the right of each member of the Class to recover.

26. Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

a. Whether Defendants' actions violated the EFTA;

b. Whether Defendants unlawfully accessed and charged the accounts of non-

customers' fees to which it was not entitled;

c. Whether Defendants refused to address the complaints of such non-

customers;

d. Whether Defendants engaged in common course of conduct complained of

herein;

e. Whether Defendants' actions constitutes a deceptive or unfair practice; and

9
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f. Whether, and to what extent, injunctive relief should be imposed on

Defendants to prevent such conduct in the future.

27. Typicality: Plaintiff's claims are typical of the Class because Defendants' allegedly

unlawful actions concern the same business practices described herein. Thus, Plaintiff and Class

Members sustained the same injuries and damages arising out of Defendants' conduct in violation

of law. The injuries and damages of each Class Member were caused directly by Defendants'

wrongful conduct in violation of law as alleged herein.

28. Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of all Class

Members because it is in his best interests to prosecute the claims alleged herein to obtain full

compensation he is due for the illegal conduct ofwhich he complains. Plaintiffalso has no interests

that conflict with or are antagonistic to the interests of Class Members. Plaintiff has retained highly

competent and experienced class action attorneys to represent their interests and that of the Class.

No conflict of interest exists between Plaintiff and Class Members because all questions of law

and fact regarding liability of Defendants are common to Class Members and predominate over

the individual issues that may exist. Plaintiff and his counsel have the necessary financial

resources to adequately and vigorously litigate this class action, and Plaintiff and counsel are aware

of their fiduciary responsibilities to the Class Members and are determined to diligently discharge

those duties by seeking the maximum possible recovery for the Class Members.

29. Superiority: There is no plain, speedy, or adequate remedy other than by

maintenance of this class action. The prosecution of individual remedies by members of the Class

will tend to establish inconsistent standards ofconduct for Defendant, and result in the impairment

of Class Members' rights and disposition of their interests through actions to which they were not

parties. Class action treatment will permit a large number ofsimilarly situated persons to prosecute

10
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their common claims in a single forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without the unnecessary

duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions would engender. Furthermore,

as the damages suffered by each individual member of the Class may be relatively small, the

expenses and the burden of individual litigation would make it difficult or impossible for

individual members of the Class to redress the wrongs done to them, while an important public

interest will be served by addressing the matter as a class action.

30. The prerequisites to maintaining a class action for injunctive or equitable relief

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) are met as Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds

generally applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive or equitable relief

with respect to the Class as a whole.

31. Plaintiff is unaware of any difficulties that are likely to be encountered in the

management of this action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action.

CLAIMS ALLEGED

COUNT I
VIOLATION OF THE ELECTRONIC FUND TRANSFER ACT (EFTA)

(15 USC 1693 et seq.)
(On Behalf of All Class Members)

32. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all previous allegations of the

Complaint as if they were set forth in full herein.

33. The EFTA is federal consumer law aimed at "provid[ing] a basic framework [to]

establish the rights, liabilities, and responsibilities of participants in electronic fund transfer

systems." 15 U.S.C. 1693e. An "electronic fund transfer" is defined as "any transfer of funds..

which is initiated through an electronic terminal, telephonic instrument, or computer or magnetic

tape so as to order, instruct, or authorize a financial institution to debit or credit an account." 15

11
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U.S.C. 1693a(6). Electronic fund transfers include, inter alia, point-of-sale transfers, automated

teller machine transactions, direct deposits or withdrawals of ffinds, and transfers initiated by

telephone. Id.

34. A "fflinancial institution" is defined as "a bank, savings association, credit union,

or any other person that directly or indirectly holds an account belonging to a consumer, or that

issues an access device and agrees with a consumer to provide electronic fund transfer services."

15 U.S.C. 1693a.

35. Pursuant to section 1693m -any person who fails to comply with any provision of

this title with respect to any consumer.... is liable to such consumer... 15 U.S.C. 1693m.

36. An "unauthorized electronic fund transfer" is defined by the statute as -an

electronic fund transfer from a consumer's account initiated by a person other than the consumer

without actual authority to initiate such transPr andfrom which the consumer receives no benefit."

15 U.S.C. 1693a(11) (emphasis added).

37. The statute's implementing regulations, known as "Regulation E" and codified at

12 C.F.R. section 205 et seq.. note that -the person that obtains the authorization" for a

preauthorized electronic funds transfer is required to obtain a signed or similarly authenticated

authorization from the consumer and is required to provide a copy of this authorization to the

consumer. 12 C.F.R. 205.10(b) (emphasis added).

38. The Official Staff Interpretations ("OSI") of Regulation E expressly state that for

-authorization obtained by a third party... the account-holding financial institution does not

violate the regulation when a third-party payee fails to obtain the authorization in writing or fails

to give a copy to the consumer, rather it is the third-party payee that is in violation of the

regulation." (emphasis added). Regulation E, Supp. I, Part 10(b).
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39. Defendants failed to secure authorization from Plaintiff for the recurring

deductions, in violation of the EFTA and its implementing regulations. The same misconduct

affected all class members.

40. In light of the above, Plaintiff asserts a claim for himself and all similarly affected

class members under the private civil action provisions of the EFTA, 15 U.S. Code 1693m

COUNT II
UNJUST ENRICHMENT AND RESTITUTION

(On Behalf of All Class Members)

41. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all previous allegations of the

Complaint as if they were set forth in full herein.

42. This claim asserts that it is unjust to allow Defendants to retain profits from their

deceptive, misleading, and unlawful conduct alleged herein.

43. As a result of the of the actions by Defendants, Defendants received benefits under

circumstances where it would be unjust to retain those benefits.

44. Defendants have knowledge or an appreciation of the benefit conferred upon them

by Plaintiff and the Class Members.

45. Equity demands disgorgement of Defendants' ill-gotten gains. Defendants will be

unjustly enriched unless Defendants are ordered to disgorge those profits for the benefit ofPlaintiff

and the Class.

46. Plaintiff and the class members are entitled disgorgement of the unjust benefits

received by Defendants.

COUNT III
VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW FOR DAMAGES, AN

INJUNCTION, A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND ATTORNEYS' FEES

13
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(On Behalf of the New York Sub-Class)
47. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all previous allegations of the

Complaint as if they were set forth in full herein.

48. Defendants' conduct as alleged herein violated the New York General Business

Law, 349. Among other things, Section 349 prohibits conduct that tends to deceive consumers,

and unsuspecting consumers may well be deceived by an unexpected bill, and may not even notice

it in time to seek its cancellation by their banks. An act or practice may be deceptive or unfair

under Section 349, irrespective of a defendant's good faith or intent to deceive.

49. Section 349 authorizes a private action by Plaintiff and the Sub-Class for damages.

Plaintiff and the Sub-Class seek compensatory damages for their injuries.

50. In addition, the Section 349 authorizes Plaintiff and the Sub-Class to seek injunctive

relief to stop this practice where the Defendants abuse innocent non-customers by unlawfully

absconding with their funds. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks to permanently enjoin these unlawful,

deceptive practices on behalf of himself and the Sub-Class.

51. In addition, Section 349 authorizes Plaintiff and the Class to seek a declaratory

judgment that the unlawful actions alleged herein where the Defendants deceive innocent non-

customers violates the statute. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks a declaratory judgment declaring that

these unlawful, deceptive practices on behalf of himself and the Sub-class are violative of the

statute.

52. Under Section 349, Plaintiff and the Sub-Class are entitled to: (1) damages; (2) an

injunction; (3) a declaratory judgment; and (4) attorney's fees and the costs of this action as

provided by the New York General Business Law.
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COUNT IV
CONSUMER STATUTES OF THE OTHER STATES

(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class)

53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all previous allegations of the

Complaint as if they were set forth in full herein.

54. In taking the actions that Defendants took, it has violated the consumer laws of the

all states in which Class members reside. Such consumer laws substantially resemble each other.

55. As a result of Defendants' wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and the Class were damaged.

56. Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to damages in an amount to be proved at trial.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court:

1. certify this action as a class action; and that Plaintiff be designated the class

representative; and his counsel as class counsel;

2. award plaintiff and the class compensatory and statutory damages as proved at

trial with pre-judgment interest as appropriate;
3. award punitive damages as appropriate;
4. award the costs of the action, including counsel fees;

5. compel the Defendants to disgorge the amounts by which they were unjustly
enriched;

6. declare that that the Defendants' conduct violates the New York General Business
Law and the consumer laws of the other states which are similar or identical to New York;

7. enter an injunction preventing Defendants from effecting any further violations of
the law;

8. award attorneys' fees and reimbursement all costs incurred in the prosecution of
this action; and

9. grant such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Dated:
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Dated: 1/ /7 RYAN & MANISKAS, LLP

/RICHARD A. MANISKAS
KATHARINE M. RYAN

995 Old Eagle School Road, Suite
311

Wayne, PA 19087

Telephone: (484) 588-5516
Facsimile: (484) 450-2582
E-mail: rmaniskas@rmclasslaw.com

Of Counsel:

Laurence D. Paskowitz
THE PASKOWITZ LAW FIRM P.C.
208 East 51st Street, Suite 380
New York, New York 10022
212- 685-0969
212-685-2306 (fax)
classattorneyaaol.com

Roy L. Jacobs
ROY JACOBS & ASSOCIATES
420 Lexington Avenue Suite 2440
New York, NY 10170
212- 867-1156
212-504-8343 (Fax)
rjacobs@jacobsclasslaw.com

16



ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Class Action: Comcast Illegally Accessed Customers' Bank Accounts

https://www.classaction.org/news/class-action-comcast-illegally-accessed-customers-bank-accounts

